

LD5921484

HOUSE BILL NO. 1139

House Amendments in [] — February 13, 1994

A *BILL to amend and reenact §§ 3.1-22.5, 3.1-263 through 3.1-275.1 and 9-6.14:4.1 of the Code of Virginia and to amend the Code of Virginia by adding sections numbered 3.1-271.1 and 3.1-275.2 through [~~3.1-375.7~~ 3.1-275.7] , relating to the Virginia seed law.*

Patron—Watkins

Referred to Committee on Agriculture

Be it enacted by the General Assembly of Virginia:

1. That §§ 3.1-22.5, 3.1-263 through 3.1-275.1 and 9-6.14:4.1 of the Code of Virginia are amended and reenacted and that the Code of Virginia is amended by adding sections numbered 3.1-271.1 and 3.1-275.2 through [~~3.1-375.7~~ 3.1-275.7] as follows:

§ 3.1-22.5. Virginia Agricultural Foundation Fund.

There is hereby established in the state treasury a special fund to be designated as the "Virginia Agricultural Foundation Fund" which shall consist of transfers made to it under §§ 3.1-81.1, 3.1-126.5, 3.1-275.7, 3.1-814, 58.1-2111 and 58.1-2146 of the Code of Virginia, of other moneys appropriated thereto, gifts and grants, and interest accruing thereon. The fund shall be expended in accordance with the directions of the Virginia Agricultural Council and drawn from the state treasury in the manner provided by law. No part of such fund shall revert to the general fund of the state treasury.

§ 3.1-263. Definitions.

As used in this article, unless the context clearly requires otherwise:

(1) The term "person" includes any individual, partnership, corporation, company, society or association.

(2) The term "Commissioner" means the Commissioner of Agriculture and Consumer Services of Virginia.

(3) The term "agricultural seeds" means the seeds of grass, forage, cereal and fiber crops, and any other kinds of seeds commonly recognized within this Commonwealth as agricultural seeds, lawn seeds and mixtures of such seeds, and may include noxious-weed seeds, all of which shall be specified by rules and regulations promulgated pursuant to the provisions of this article.

(4) The term "vegetable seeds" includes seeds of those crops which are grown in gardens and on truck farms and are generally known and sold under the name of vegetable seed in this Commonwealth, and which from time to time shall be specified by rules and regulations promulgated pursuant to the provisions of this article.

(5) The term "kind" means one or more related species or subspecies which singly or collectively is known by one common name, for example, wheat, oats, vetch, sweet clover, cabbage, cauliflower, and so forth.

(6) The term "variety" means a subdivision of a kind characterized by growth, plant, fruit, seed, or other characters by which it can be differentiated from other plants of the same kind, for example, Fulgrain Oats, Flat Dutch Cabbage, Ogden Soybeans, U.S. 262 (hybrid corn) and so forth.

(7) The term "mixture" means seeds consisting of more than one kind or variety, when claimed or present in excess of five per centum of the whole.

(8) The term "weed seeds" includes the seeds, bulblets or tubers of all plants generally recognized as weeds within this Commonwealth and includes noxious-weed seeds.

(9) "Noxious-weed seeds" are divided into two classes:

(a) "Prohibited noxious-weed seeds" are the seeds of weeds which, when established, are highly destructive and are not controlled in this Commonwealth by cultural practices commonly used. Such weeds are to be specified by rules and regulations promulgated pursuant to the provisions of this article.

(b) "Restricted noxious-weed seeds" are the seeds of weeds which are very objectionable in fields, lawns and gardens in this Commonwealth and are difficult to control by cultural practices commonly used. Such seeds are to be specified by rules and regulations promulgated pursuant to the provisions of this article.

(10) The term "origin" means the state, Puerto Rico, or possession of the United States, or the foreign country, or designated portion thereof, where the seed was grown.

(11) The term "labeling" includes all labels, and other written, printed, or graphic representations, in any form whatsoever, accompanying or pertaining to any seed whether in bulk or in containers, and includes representations on invoices.

(12) The term "advertisement" means all representations, other than those required on the label,

ENGROSSED

HB1139E

60 disseminated in any manner or by any means relating to seed within the scope of this article.

61 (13) The term "processing" means cleaning, scarifying, treating, or blending to obtain uniform
62 quality, and other operations which would change the purity or germination of the seed and therefore
63 require retesting to determine the quality of the seed, but does not include operations such as packaging,
64 labeling, blending together of uniform lots of the same kind or variety without cleaning, or the
65 preparation of a mixture without cleaning, any of which would not require retesting to determine the
66 quality of the seed.

67 (14) The term "screenings" includes seed, inert matter and other materials removed from agricultural
68 or vegetable seed by cleaning or processing.

69 (15) The term "hybrid" means the first generation seed of a cross produced by controlling the
70 pollination or by use of sterile lines and combining (a) two, three, or four inbred lines, or (b) one inbred
71 line or a single cross with an open-pollinated variety, or (c) two varieties or species, except
72 open-pollinated varieties of corn. The second generation or subsequent generation seed from such
73 crosses shall not be regarded as hybrids.

74 (16) The term "inbred line" is a relatively stable and pure breeding strain resulting from not less than
75 four successive generations of controlled self-pollination or four successive generations of backcrossing
76 in the case of male sterile lines.

77 (17) The term "controlled conditions" means those minimum standards for genetic purity of seed
78 stocks, isolation, planting ratio, detasseling, roguing, harvesting, and other factors necessary for the
79 production of hybrid seed; such standards to be established by rules and regulations promulgated
80 pursuant to the provisions of this article.

81 (18) The terms "recognized variety name" and "recognized hybrid designation" mean the name or
82 designation (which may be symbols, letters or numbers) which was first assigned the variety of hybrid
83 by the person who developed it and first introduced it for production or sale. Such terms shall be used
84 only to designate the varieties or hybrids to which they are first assigned.

85 (19) The term "noncoded pedigree" means the usual designated combination of two or more symbols
86 of letters or numbers, or letters and numbers, identifying the inbred lines or varieties combined to make
87 a hybrid.

88 (20) The term "lot" means a definite quantity of seed, identified by a lot number or other
89 identification, which is uniform throughout for the factors which appear on the label.

90 (21) The term "bulk lot" or "in bulk" refers to loose seed in bins, or other containers, and not to seed
91 in bags or packets.

92 (22) The term "pure seed" means agricultural or vegetable seeds exclusive of inert matter, weed
93 seeds and all other seeds distinguishable from the kind or kind and variety being considered; determined
94 by methods prescribed by rules and regulations promulgated pursuant to the provisions of this article.

95 (23) The term "inert matter" means all matter not seeds, and includes broken seeds, sterile florets,
96 chaff, fungus bodies, and stones, determined by methods prescribed by rules and regulations
97 promulgated pursuant to the provisions of this article.

98 (24) The term "germination" means the percentage by count of seeds under consideration, which are
99 capable of producing normal seedlings in a given period of time and under conditions specified by rules
100 and regulations promulgated pursuant to the provisions of this article.

101 (25) The term "hard seeds" means seeds which, because of hardness or impermeability, do not absorb
102 moisture and germinate but remain hard during the period prescribed for germination by rules and
103 regulations promulgated pursuant to the provisions of this article.

104 (26) The term "certified seed," "registered seed" or "foundation seed" means seed that has been
105 produced and labeled in accordance with the procedures and in compliance with the requirements of an
106 official certifying agency.

107 (27) The term "official certifying agency" means an agency recognized and designated as a certifying
108 agency by the laws of a state, the United States, a province of Canada, or the government of a foreign
109 country wherein said seed were produced.

110 (28) The term "treated" means that the seed has received an effective application of a generally
111 approved substance or process designed to control, or repel certain disease organisms, insects or other
112 pests attacking such seeds or seedlings grown therefrom, or has received some other treatment to
113 improve its planting value.

114 (29) The term "code designation" means a code designation not generally known to the public,
115 assigned at the discretion of the Commissioner, to any person engaged in the seed business, which,
116 under conditions prescribed by rules and regulations promulgated pursuant to the provisions of this
117 article, may be used to identify the person responsible for labeling seed in intrastate commerce.

118 (30) The term "sale" means the transfer of ownership of seed, evidenced by exchange of payment
119 and/or seed, in whole, or in part.

120 (31) The term "tolerance" means the allowable deviation from any figure used on a label to designate
121 the percentage of any fraction, or rate of occurrence in the lot in question and is based on the law of

normal variation from a mean.

(32) The term "flower seeds" includes seeds of herbaceous plants grown for their blooms, ornamental foliage, or other ornamental parts commonly known and sold under the name of flower seeds in this Commonwealth, and which from time to time shall be specified by rules and regulations promulgated pursuant to the provisions of this article.

(33) The term "tree and shrub seeds" includes seeds of woody plants commonly known and sold as tree and shrub seeds in this Commonwealth, and which from time to time shall be specified by rules and regulations promulgated pursuant to the provisions of this article.

(34) The term "lawn or turf seed mixture" shall include two or more kinds of agricultural seeds when combined and sold for lawns, recreational areas and other areas where turf is grown for beautification or erosion control; kinds used in such mixtures may be generally classed as fine-textured kinds and/or coarse kinds which shall be specified from time to time by rules and regulations promulgated pursuant to the provisions of this article.

(35) The term "brand" means the name, term, design or trademark under which any person offers seed for sale.

(36) The term "name of mixture" means the name or term used to designate a particular specification of a lawn or turf seed mixture.

(37) The term "registrant" means the person registering seed or lawn or turf seed mixture pursuant to the provisions of this article.

(38) The term "Board" means the Board of Agriculture and Consumer Services of Virginia.

"Advertisement" means all representations, other than those required on the label, disseminated in any manner, or by any means, relating to seed within the scope of this article.

"Agricultural seeds" means seed which includes, but is not limited to, the seeds of grass, forage, cereal and fiber crops, and any other kinds of seed commonly recognized within the Commonwealth as agricultural seed, lawn and turf seed and mixtures of such seed, and includes noxious-weed seeds, if present.

"Bag" or "packet" means a container in the form of a sack or pouch usually made from a flexible material.

"Blend" means a mechanical combination of varieties of the same kind, identified by a blend designation, which combination is always present in the same percentages in each lot so designated.

"Board" means the Board of Agriculture and Consumer Services of Virginia.

"Brand" means the name, term, design or trademark under which any person offers seed for sale.

"Bulk lot" or "in bulk" means loose seed in bins, or other containers. The term does not refer to seed in bags or packets.

"Certified seed," "registered seed" or "foundation seed" means seed that has been produced and labeled in accordance with the procedures, and in compliance with the requirements, of an official certifying agency.

"Code designation" means a code designation not generally known to the public, assigned at the discretion of the Commissioner, to any person engaged in the seed business, which, under conditions prescribed by regulations promulgated pursuant to the provisions of this article, may be used to identify the person responsible for labeling seed in interstate commerce.

"Commissioner" means the Commissioner of the Department.

"Conditioning" means cleaning, scarifying, treating, or blending, to obtain uniform quality, and other operations which would change the purity or germination of the seed, and therefore require retesting to determine the quality of the seed. The term does not include processes after which retesting would not be required to determine the quality of the seed; including, by way of example but not by way of limitation, packaging, labeling, blending together of uniform lots of the same kind or variety without cleaning, and the preparation of a mixture without cleaning.

"Controlled conditions" means those minimum standards for genetic purity of seed stocks, isolation, planting ratio, detasseling, roguing, harvesting, and other factors necessary for the production of hybrid seed; such standards to be established by regulations promulgated pursuant to the provisions of this article.

"Department" means the Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services.

"Distribute" means to import, consign, produce, mix, blend or condition seeds, or to offer for sale, sell, barter, warehouse or otherwise supply seeds in the Commonwealth.

"Distributor warehouse business" means a company owned, contracted, or operated business from which the company's seed is distributed to a wholesaler or retailer who usually makes payment directly to the company.

"Dormant seed" means viable seeds, other than hard seed which fail to germinate when provided the specified germination conditions for the kind of seed in question.

"Flower seeds" means by way of example, but not by way of limitation, seeds of herbaceous plants

grown for their blooms, ornamental foliage, or other ornamental parts commonly known and sold under the name of flower seeds in the Commonwealth, and which from time to time shall be specified by regulations promulgated pursuant to the provisions of this article.

"Germination" means the percentage by count of seeds under consideration, which are capable of producing normal seedlings in a given period of time, and under conditions specified by regulations promulgated pursuant to the provisions of this article. "Guarantor" means the person whose name appears on the label.

"Hard seeds" means seeds which, because of hardness or impermeability, do not absorb moisture, and germinate but remain hard during the period prescribed for germination by regulations promulgated pursuant to the provisions of this article.

"Hybrid" means the first generation seed of a cross, produced by controlling the pollination, or by use of sterile lines, and combining (a) two, three, or four inbred lines, or (b) one inbred line, or a single cross, with an open-pollinated variety, or (c) two varieties or species, except open-pollinated varieties of corn.

"Inbred line" means a relatively stable and pure breeding strain, resulting from not less than four successive generations of controlled self-pollination; or four successive generations of backcrossing, in the case of male sterile lines.

"Inert matter" means all matter not seeds, and includes, but is not limited to, broken seeds, sterile florets, chaff, fungus bodies, and stones, determined by methods prescribed by regulations promulgated pursuant to the provisions of this article.

"Kind" means one or more related species or subspecies which singly or collectively are known by one common name, including, but not limited to, wheat, oats, hairy vetch, white sweetclover, cabbage, and cauliflower.

"Labeling" means all labels, and other written, printed, or graphic statements or representations, in any form whatsoever, accompanying or pertaining to any seed whether in bulk or in containers, and includes representations on invoices.

"Lawn and turf seeds" means the seeds of grasses commonly recognized and sold for lawns, recreational and utilitarian areas where turf is grown for beautification or erosion control.

"Lawn or turf seed mixture" means two or more kinds of agricultural seeds when combined and sold for lawns, recreational areas, and other areas where turf is grown for beautification or erosion control.

"Lot" means a definite quantity of seed, identified by a lot number or other identification, which is uniform throughout for the factors which appear on the label.

"Mixture" means seeds consisting of more than one kind or variety, when claimed or present, in excess of five per centum of the whole.

"Name of mixture" means the name or term used to designate a particular specification of a lawn or turf seed mixture.

"Noncoded pedigree" means the usual designated combination of two or more symbols of letters or numbers, or letters and numbers, identifying the inbred lines or varieties combined to make a hybrid.

"Noxious-weed seeds" means "prohibited noxious-weed seeds" and "restricted noxious weed seeds", as such terms are defined below: (a) "prohibited noxious-weed seeds" are the seeds of weeds which, when established, are highly destructive, and are not controlled in the Commonwealth by cultural practices commonly used.

(b) "restricted noxious-weed seeds" are the seeds of weeds which are very objectionable in fields, lawns and gardens in the Commonwealth and are difficult to control by cultural practices commonly used.

"Official certifying agency" means an agency recognized and designated as a certifying agency, by the laws of a state, the United States, a province of Canada, or the government of a foreign country wherein said seed were produced.

"Origin" means the state, Puerto Rico, or possession of the United States, or the foreign country, or designated portion thereof, where the seed was grown.

"Pack" means to condition and put into containers in order to preserve, transport or distribute.

"Pure seed" means agricultural or vegetable seeds, exclusive of inert matter, weed seeds, and all other seeds distinguishable from the kind, or kind and variety, being considered. Pure seed is to be determined by methods prescribed by regulations promulgated pursuant to the provisions of this article.

"Quantity statement" means the net weight (mass), net volume (liquid or dry), count or other form of measurement of a commodity.

"Recognized variety name" and "recognized hybrid designation" mean the name or designation, (which may be symbols, letters or numbers), which was first assigned the variety or hybrid by the person who developed it, and first introduced it for production or sale.

"Registrant" means the person registering a lawn or turf seed mixture pursuant to the provisions of this article.

"Retailer" means a person who sells any seed or mixture defined in this article to a consumer.

"Sale" means the transfer of ownership of seed, evidenced by exchange of payment, or seed, or payment and seed, in whole, or in part.

"Screenings" means, by way of example but not by way of limitation, seed, inert matter and other materials removed from agricultural or vegetable seed by cleaning or conditioning.

"Stop sale, use, removal, or seizure order" means an order which prohibits the distributor from selling, relocating, using, or disposing of a lot of seed, or portion thereof, in any manner, until the Commissioner or his agent, or the court gives written permission to sell, relocate, use or dispose of the lot of seed or portion thereof.

"Tolerance" means the allowable deviation from any figure, used on a label to designate the percentage of any fraction, or rate of occurrence, in the lot in question, and is based on the law of normal variation from a mean.

"Transgenetic" means any plant material, or seed produced from such plants, that has undergone the transfer of a gene from one genera to another.

"Treated" means that the seed has received an effective application of (i) a generally approved substance; or (ii) a process; such substance or process having been designed to control, or repel, certain disease organisms, insects or other pests, which attack such seeds or seedlings grown therefrom; or (iii) has received some other treatment to improve its planting value.

"Tree and shrub seeds" means by way of example, but not by way of limitation, seeds of woody plants commonly known and sold as tree and shrub seeds in the Commonwealth, and which from time to time shall be specified by regulations promulgated pursuant to the provisions of this article.

"Variety" means a subdivision of a kind characterized by growth, plant, fruit, seed, or other characters by which it can be differentiated from other plants of the same kind.

"Vegetable seeds" means by way of example, but not by way of limitation, seeds of those crops which are grown in gardens and on truck farms, and are generally known and sold under the name of vegetable seed in the Commonwealth, and which from time to time shall be specified by regulations promulgated pursuant to the provisions of this article.

"Weed seeds" means by way of example, but not by way of limitation, the seeds, bulblets or tubers of all plants generally recognized as weeds within the Commonwealth, and includes noxious-weed seeds.

"Wholesaler" means any person engaged in the business of selling seed to a retailer or jobber.

§ 3.1-264. Labeling and advertising requirements.

All seed defined under § 3.1-263 of this article which are sold, exposed for sale, transported, or advertised within this Commonwealth for sowing purposes, or screenings for any purpose whatsoever, shall bear thereon or have attached thereto in a conspicuous place a plainly written or printed label or tag in the English language, giving information as herein specified, which statement shall may not be modified or denied in the labeling or advertisement pertaining to such seed or screenings.

(A) For all seed named and treated as defined in this article (for which a separate label may be used) for seed within this subsection the information shall include:

(1) A word or statement indicating that the seed has been treated;

(2) The commonly accepted, coined, chemical or abbreviated chemical (generic) name of the applied substance or treatment; and

(3) If any substance in the amount present with the seed is harmful to human or other vertebrate animals, a caution statement such as "Do not use for food or feed or oil purposes;" if any substance in the amount present is harmful to human or other vertebrate animals. The caution for mercurials and similar toxic substances shall be a poison statement or symbol.

(B) For agricultural seeds the information shall include:

(1) The recognized name of each kind, (or kind and variety if that kind has been adopted by the Board through regulation as a kind that shall be labeled as to variety in accordance with § 3.1-271(6), of each agricultural seed component in excess of five per centum of the whole, and the percentage by weight of each in order of its predominance as specified by rules and regulations; except mixtures may be sold by kind name, and agricultural seed may be sold by kind name provided such sale is not for the production of an agricultural crop and the label clearly indicates "NOT FOR AGRICULTURAL PRODUCTION";

(2) When more than one agricultural seed component is required to be named, the word "mixture" or the word "mixed" shall be shown conspicuously on the label. Whenever any provision of this article or regulation adopted thereto requires the guarantor to name more than one agricultural seed component, the guarantor shall cause the word "mixture" or "mixed" to appear conspicuously on the label;

(3) Lot the lot number or other lot identification;

(4) Origin the origin, if known; if not known, that fact shall be stated;

(5) Percentage the percentage by weight of all weed seeds;

(6) The the name and number per ounce or pound, or metric equivalent of each kind of restricted noxious-weed seed present, subject to subdivision I (A) (5) of § 3.1-265;

306 (7) ~~The~~ *the* percentage by weight of agricultural seeds and of vegetable seeds other than the kind or
307 kind and variety named on the label. Such information may be designated as "other crop seed" ~~and/or as~~
308 "other variety", *or as both* as the case may be-;

309 (8) ~~Percentage~~ *the percentage* by weight of inert matter-;

310 (9) ~~For~~ *for* each named agricultural seed:

311 (a) ~~Percentage~~ *the percentage* of germination, exclusive of hard *or dormant* seed-;

312 (b) ~~Percentage~~ *the percentage* of hard *or dormant* seed, if present-;

313 (c) ~~The~~ *the* calendar month and year the test was completed to determine such percentages-; *and*

314 (d) ~~Following~~ *(a) and (b)* the "total germination" and "hard seed" may be stated as such, if desired-;

315 *following the information required by items (a) and (b) of this subdivision. The guarantor shall state*
316 *separately on the label the percent of dormant seed.*

317 (10) ~~For all hybrids-~~ *the recognized hybrid designation- for all hybrids;*

318 (11) ~~Net weight-~~ *the quantity statement; and*

319 (12) ~~The~~ *the* name and address of (a) the person who sells or who labels, offers or exposes said seed
320 for sale within this Commonwealth or (b) the person to whom the seed is sold or shipped for resale-;

321 ~~together with~~ *and in either case* a code designation approved by the Board under ~~rules and~~ regulations
322 authorized by § 3.1-271, indicating the person who transports or delivers for transportation said seed in
323 ~~intrastate~~ *interstate* commerce.

324 (C) For vegetable seeds in containers of ~~two pounds~~ *one half pound* or less *the information shall*
325 *include:*

326 (1) ~~Name~~ *the name* of kind and variety of seed-;

327 (2) ~~The~~ *the* year for which picketed or put up, provided that the words "packed for" shall precede the
328 year, or the percentage of germination and the month and year the test was completed to determine such
329 percentage-;

330 (3) ~~Net weight~~ *the quantity statement*, except as provided by appropriate ~~rules and~~ regulations-;

331 (4) ~~For~~ *for* seeds which germinate less than the standard last established by ~~rules and~~ regulations
332 promulgated pursuant to the provisions of this article:

333 (a) ~~Percentage~~ *the percentage* of germination, exclusive of hard *or dormant* seed-;

334 (b) ~~Percentage~~ *the percentage* of hard *or dormant* seed, if present-;

335 (c) ~~The~~ *the* calendar month and year the test was completed to determine ~~such~~ *the percentages in*
336 *items (a) and (b) of this subdivision-;*

337 (d) ~~Following~~ *(a) and (b)* the "total germination" and "hard seed" may be stated as such, if desired-;

338 *following the information in items (a) and (b) of this subdivision. The guarantor shall state separately*
339 *on the label the percentage of dormant seed-; and*

340 (e) ~~The~~ *the* words "below standard" in not less than eight-point type-; *and*

341 (5) ~~Name~~ *the name* and address of the person who labeled said seed, or who sells, offers, or exposes
342 said seed for sale within this Commonwealth.

343 (D) For vegetable seeds in bulk or in containers of more than ~~two pounds~~ *one half pound*, *the*
344 *information shall include:*

345 (1) ~~The~~ *the* name of each kind and variety present in excess of five per centum of the whole and the
346 percentage by weight of each in order of its predominance-;

347 (2) ~~Lot~~ *the lot* number or other lot identification-;

348 (3) ~~For~~ *for* each named kind and variety:

349 (a) ~~The~~ *the* percentage of germination exclusive of hard *or dormant* seed-;

350 (b) ~~The~~ *the* percentage of hard *or dormant* seed, if present-;

351 (c) ~~The~~ *the* calendar month and year the test was completed to determine ~~Such~~ *the percentages in*
352 *items (a) and (b) of this subdivision-; and*

353 (d) ~~Following~~ *following* (a) and (b) the "total germination" and "hard seed" may be stated as such, if
354 desired. *The guarantor shall state separately on the label the percent of dormant seed.*

355 (4) ~~Net weight~~ *the quantity statement*, except when in bulk-; *and*

356 (5) ~~The~~ *the* name and address of the person who sells, or who labels, offers, or exposes for sale,
357 such seed within this Commonwealth.

358 (6) ~~The~~ *the* labeling requirements of items (1) through (5) of this subsection for vegetable seeds sold
359 from open containers shall be deemed to have been met if the seed is weighed from a properly labeled
360 container in the presence of the purchaser.

361 (E) For screenings-; *the information shall include:*

362 Seeds or screenings which contain more than two per centum by weight weed seeds, prohibited
363 noxious-weed seeds or restricted noxious-weed seeds in excess of the amounts prescribed by ~~rules and~~
364 regulations promulgated under this article when offered for sale or distribution in this Commonwealth
365 must be plainly labeled in such a way as to ~~unmistakably~~ indicate to the purchaser that such seeds or
366 screenings are not for seeding purposes.

367 (F) For ~~flower~~ seeds in ~~packets~~ *prepared for use in home gardens or household plantings or flower*

seeds in preplanted containers, mats, tapes, or other planting devices *the information shall include:*

(1) ~~For~~ for all kinds of flower seeds:

(a) ~~The~~ the name of the kind and variety or a statement of type and performance characteristics, as prescribed in the rules and regulations promulgated pursuant to the provisions of this article.

(b) ~~The~~ the calendar month and year seed was tested or the year for which the seed was packaged.

(c) ~~Net weight~~ the quantity statement, except as otherwise provided by appropriate rules and regulations; and

(d) ~~The~~ the name and address of the person who labeled said seed, or who sells, offers, or exposes said seed for sale within this Commonwealth; and

(e) other special labeling requirements as determined by the Board.

(2) ~~For~~ for seeds of those kinds for which standard testing procedures are prescribed and which germinate less than the germination standard last established by rules and regulations promulgated pursuant to the provisions of this article:

(a) ~~The~~ the percentage of germination exclusive of hard seed;

(b) ~~The~~ the words "below standard" in not less than eight-point type.

(3) ~~For~~ for seeds placed in a germination medium, mat, tape, or other device in such a way as to make it difficult to determine the quantity of seed without removing the seeds from the medium, mat, tape, or device, a statement to indicate the minimum number of seeds in the container.

(G) For flower seeds in containers other than packets prepared for use in home flower gardens or household plantings and other than preplanted containers, mats, tapes, or other planting devices *the information shall include:*

(1) ~~The~~ the name of the kind and variety or a statement of type and performance characteristics as prescribed in rules and regulations promulgated pursuant to the provisions of this article.

(2) ~~The~~ the lot number or other lot identification.

(3) ~~The~~ the calendar month and year that the seed was tested, or the year for which the seed was packaged.

(4) ~~Net weight~~ the quantity statement, except as provided by appropriate rules and regulations.

(5) ~~The~~ the name and address of the person who labeled said seed or who sells, offers, or exposes said seed for sale within this Commonwealth.

(6) ~~For~~ for those kinds of seed for which standard testing procedures are prescribed:

(a) ~~The~~ the percentage of germination exclusive of hard seed.

(b) ~~The~~ the percentage of hard or dormant seed, if present.

(H) For tree and shrub seeds *the information shall include:*

(1) ~~Commonly~~ the commonly accepted common and Latin name of species.

(2) ~~Variety~~ the variety (if applicable).

(3) ~~Net weight~~ the quantity statement;

(4) ~~Lot~~ the number;

(5) ~~The~~ the calendar year in which seed was collected;

(6) ~~Origin~~ the origin: The specific locality (state and county, or Virginia zone, in the United States or nearest equivalent political unit in case of foreign countries) in which seed was collected;

(7) ~~Date~~ the date of test (month and year);

(8) ~~Percentage~~ the percentage by weight of pure seed;

(9) ~~Percentage~~ the percentage by weight of inert matter;

(10) ~~Percentage~~ the percentage by weight of other crop seeds.

(11) ~~Percentage~~ the percentage of germination exclusive of hard or dormant seed.

(12) ~~Percentage~~ the percentage of hard seeds, if present.

(13) ~~Speed~~ the speed of germination, as expressed in items of the number of days the seeds will take to reach ninety per centum of total.

(14) ~~Pregermination~~ the pregermination treatment used in test.

(15) ~~Total~~ the total number of seed per pound.

(16) ~~Moisture~~ the moisture content; and

(17) ~~Name~~ the name and address of the person who labeled said seed or who sells, offers, or exposes said seed for sale within this Commonwealth;

(I) For lawn or turf seed mixtures in prepacked containers of ~~fifty~~ one hundred pounds or less *the information shall include:*

(1) ~~The~~ the recognized name of each kind, or kind and variety, of each agricultural seed component in excess of five per centum of the whole, and the percentage by weight of each in order of its predominance or the common accepted name of the kind or kind and variety of each agricultural seed present in excess of five per centum of the whole, indicating the class of each ingredient to be "fine-texture grass" or a "coarse kind" in accordance with rules and regulations promulgated pursuant to the provisions of this article;

429 (2) ~~The~~ *the* registered name of the mixture;,
 430 (3) ~~Lot~~ *the* lot number or other lot identification;,
 431 (4) ~~Percentage~~ *percentage* by weight of all weed seeds;,
 432 (5) ~~The~~ *the* name and number per ounce or per pound of each kind of restricted noxious-weed seeds
 433 present, subject to subdivision I (A) (5) of § 3.1-265.
 434 (6) ~~The~~ *the* percentage by weight of other agricultural seeds not claimed in the formula.
 435 (7) ~~Percentage~~ *the percentage* by weight of inert matter.
 436 (8) ~~For~~ *for* each named agricultural seed:
 437 (a) ~~Percentage~~ *the percentage* of germination, exclusive of hard seed.
 438 (b) ~~Percentage~~ *the percentage* of hard seed, if present.
 439 (c) ~~The~~ *the* calendar month and year the test was completed to determine ~~Such~~ *the* percentages in
 440 items (a) and (b) of this subdivision; provided, however, the date of the first test of the components may
 441 be given for the entire mixture.
 442 (9) ~~Net weight.~~ *the quantity statement;*
 443 (10) ~~The~~ *the* name and address of (a) the person who sells or who labels, offers, or exposes said
 444 seed for sale within this Commonwealth or (b) person to whom the seed is sold or shipped for resale,
 445 together with the code designation approved by the Board under ~~rules and~~ regulations authorized by
 446 § 3.1-271, indicating the person who transports or delivers for transportation said seed.
 447 § 3.1-265. Prohibitions.
 448 It shall be unlawful for any person:
 449 I. To transport, to offer for transportation, to sell, offer for sale or expose for sale, within this
 450 Commonwealth:
 451 (A) Seed or seed mixtures subject to this article:
 452 (1) ~~Unless~~ *unless* the germination test to determine the percentage of germination required by
 453 § 3.1-264 shall have been completed within a ~~twelve-month~~ *nine-month* period, exclusive of the calendar
 454 month in which the test was completed, prior to sale, exposure for sale, or offering for sale or
 455 transportation.
 456 (2) ~~Not~~ *not* labeled in accordance with or otherwise meeting the provisions of this article, not
 457 registered or falsely stated to be registered under § 3.1-275.1, or having a false or misleading labeling or
 458 claim;,
 459 (3) ~~Pertaining~~ *pertaining* to which there has been a false or misleading advertisement;,
 460 (4) ~~Consisting~~ *consisting* of, or containing prohibited noxious-weed seeds in any amount whatsoever
 461 (tolerance not permitted);,
 462 (5) ~~Containing~~ *containing* restricted noxious-weed seeds, except as prescribed by ~~rules and~~
 463 regulations promulgated under this article;,
 464 (6) ~~Containing~~ *containing* weed seeds in excess of one per centum by weight, except as prescribed
 465 by ~~rules and~~ regulations promulgated under this article;,
 466 (7) ~~That~~ *that* have been treated and not labeled as required;,
 467 (8) ~~To~~ *to* which there is affixed names or terms that create a misleading impression as to the kind,
 468 kind and variety, history, productivity, quality, or origin of the seed;,
 469 (9) ~~Represented~~ *represented* to be certified, registered, or foundation seed, unless it has been
 470 produced, processed and labeled in accordance with the procedures and in compliance with rules and
 471 regulations of an officially recognized certifying agency;,
 472 (10) ~~Represented~~ *represented* to be a hybrid unless such seed conforms to the definition of a hybrid
 473 as defined in this article except *those kinds named in regulation promulgated by the Board as having*
 474 *agronomic value and flower seed generally termed defined as* hybrids prior to the enactment of
 475 § 3.1-264 (F) and (G); *on July 1, 1966 as determined by regulations promulgated by the Board;*
 476 (11) ~~Hybrid~~ *hybrid* seed from a crop which has been inspected in the field by a duly authorized
 477 inspector and rejected because of failure to conform to the controlled conditions as specified by ~~rules~~
 478 ~~and~~ regulations promulgated pursuant to the provisions of this article.
 479 (12) ~~Unless~~ *unless* it conforms to the definition of a "~~lot.~~" "*lot*";,
 480 (13) *unless the variety or hybrid name or designation is the first variety or hybrid name or*
 481 *designation assigned to it by the owner of the variety or hybrid.*
 482 (B) Screenings; unless labeled as provided in § 3.1-264 (E) of this article;,
 483 II. ~~To~~ *to* detach, alter, deface, or destroy any label provided for in this article or the ~~rules and~~
 484 regulations promulgated thereunder, or to alter or substitute seed, in any manner that may defeat the
 485 purpose of the provisions of this article;,
 486 III. ~~To~~ *to* disseminate false or misleading advertisement in any manner concerning agricultural,
 487 vegetable, flower, tree and shrub, lawn and turf seeds, or screenings;,
 488 IV. ~~To~~ *to* hinder or obstruct in any manner an authorized agent of the Commissioner in the
 489 performance of his duties;,
 490 V. ~~To~~ *to* fail to comply with, or to supply inaccurate information in reply to, a stop sale order, or to

remove tags attached to, or to dispose of seed or screenings held under such order except as specified by the ~~enforcement officer~~ *Commissioner or his agent*;

VI. ~~To~~ to use the name of the Department of Agriculture or the results of tests and inspections made by the Department for advertising purposes.;

VII. ~~To~~ to use the words "type" or "trace" in lieu of information required by this article.;

VIII. ~~To~~ to label and offer for sale seed under the scope of this article without keeping complete records as specified in § 3.1-266.;

IX. *to fail or refuse to obtain a license in accordance with § 3.1-275.2;*

X. *to fail or refuse to register a lawn and turf seed mixture in accordance with § 3.1-275.1;*

XI. *to fail or refuse to pay inspection fees in accordance with § 3.1-275.3; or*

XII. *to sell, or expose for sale, or advertise as non certified, a variety for which a certificate of plant variety protection has been issued, under the Plant Variety Protection Act, specifying sale only as a class of certified seed: Provided, that the guarantor may label seed from a certified lot by variety name when the guarantor uses the seed in a mixture, if the guarantor is the owner of the variety or the owner of the variety gives the guarantor approval to use the variety name.*

§ 3.1-266. Records.

~~All persons transporting or delivering~~ Any person who sells, exposes for sale, transports or delivers for transportation intrastate agricultural or vegetable seeds shall keep for a period of ~~two~~ three years a complete record of sale, origin, germination, purity, variety, noxious weed seeds and treatment of each lot of agricultural or vegetable seed offered, and the Commissioner ~~or his duly authorized agents~~ agent shall have the right to inspect such records *to determine if the person has paid the appropriate inspection or license fee, and for the purpose of the effective administration of this article.*

§ 3.1-267. Exemptions.

(A) The provisions of §§ 3.1-264 ~~and~~ 3.1-265 *and 3.1-271(6)* do not apply:

(1) ~~To~~ to seed or grain sold or represented to be sold for purposes other than for seeding, except as required by § 3.1-264 (E).

(2) ~~To~~ to seed for ~~processing~~ conditioning when consigned to, being transported to, or stored in a processing establishment; provided, that the invoice or labeling accompanying said seed bears the statement "Seed for ~~processing~~ conditioning," and provided further that any other labeling or representation which may be made with respect to the uncleaned or ~~unprocessed~~ unconditioned seed shall be subject to this article.

(3) ~~To~~ to any carrier in respect to any seed or screenings transported or delivered for transportation in the ordinary course of its business as a carrier; provided, that such carrier is not engaged in producing, ~~processing~~ conditioning or marketing agricultural, vegetable, flower, tree and shrub, lawn and turf seeds, or screenings subject to this article.

(4) ~~To~~ to untested seed sold on his own premises by a grower who ~~sells only~~ collected gross receipts for selling seeds in the Commonwealth of \$1,000 or less during the calendar year immediately preceding the current calendar year, which seed was produced by him, ~~which~~ provided that such seed, when sold or delivered, shall bear the label on each package or bag as follows: "These seeds have not been tested." Provided, however, that any labeling or representation which may be made in respect to such seed shall be subject to this article.

(B) No person shall be subject to the penalties of this article for having sold, offered or exposed for sale in this Commonwealth agricultural, vegetable, flower, tree and shrub, lawn and turf seeds, or screenings, which were incorrectly labeled or represented as to kind, variety, or origin, which seed cannot be identified by examination thereof *by the Commissioner or his agent*, unless he has failed to obtain an invoice or grower's declaration or other labeling information ~~And or unless he has failed to~~ take such other precautions as may be reasonable to insure the identity ~~to be~~ is that stated.

(C) No person shall be subject to the penalties of this article for having sold or offered or exposed for sale tree or shrub seeds which were incorrectly labeled or represented as to subspecies, locality of collection, or year of collection, unless he has failed to obtain an invoice, grower's declaration, or other labeling information *or unless he has failed* and to take such other precautions as may be reasonable to insure the accuracy of these statements as presented on the label.

(D) No person shall be subject to the provisions of § 3.1-275.1 or the penalties of this article for having sold, offered or exposed for sale any lawn and turf seed mixture not registered as provided in said section provided he has acted in good faith and has in his possession a statement showing that such lawn and turf seed mixture has been previously registered and approved for sale in this Commonwealth.

§ 3.1-268. Disclaimers, nonwarranties and limited warranties.

A disclaimer, nonwarranty, or limited warranty used in any invoice, advertising, labeling, or written, printed or graphic matter pertaining to any seed ~~shall~~ may not directly or indirectly deny or modify any information required by this article or the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

§ 3.1-269. Tolerances to be established and used in enforcement.

552 Due to recognized variations which occur between two analyses or tests and likewise between label
553 statements and the results of subsequent analyses and tests, tolerances which are to be established by
554 appropriate rules and regulations shall be employed in the enforcement of the provisions of this article.

555 § 3.1-270. Duties and authority of Commissioner; review of "stop-sale" order.

556 (A) The duty of enforcing this article and carrying out its provisions and requirements is vested in
557 the Commissioner. ~~It is the duty of such officer, who may act through his authorized agents: The~~
558 ~~Commissioner may appoint agents to assist in carrying out the provisions of this article and the~~
559 ~~regulations adopted and established pursuant thereto.~~

560 To sample, inspect, analyze, and test agricultural, vegetable, flower, tree and shrub, lawn and turf
561 seeds, and mixtures of such seeds transported, sold, offered or exposed for sale within this
562 Commonwealth for sowing purposes and screenings for any purpose whatsoever, at such time and place
563 and to such extent as he may deem necessary to determine whether such seeds, mixtures of such seeds
564 and screenings, are in compliance with the provisions of this article, and if such seeds, mixtures of such
565 seeds, or screenings are found not to be in compliance with the provisions of this article, to notify
566 promptly the person who transported, sold, offered or exposed the seed for sale, or who otherwise
567 violated this article.

568 (B) Further, for the purpose of carrying out the provisions of this article the Commissioner through
569 his authorized agents, is authorized:

570 (1) To enter upon public premises or private premises during business hours in order to have access
571 to seeds, mixtures of such seeds, "screenings," and the records connected therewith subject to this article
572 and the rules and regulations thereunder; and ~~to enter upon~~ any truck or other conveyor by land, by
573 water, or by air at any time when such conveyor is accessible, for the same purpose;

574 (2) To issue and enforce a written or printed "stop-sale" order to the owner or custodian of any lot
575 of agricultural, vegetable, flower, tree and shrub, lawn and turf seed, mixtures of such seeds, or
576 "screenings," the Commissioner ~~or his agent~~ finds is in violation of any of the provisions of this article
577 which order shall prohibit further sale of such seeds, mixtures of seeds, or "screenings" until the
578 Commissioner ~~or his agent~~ has evidence that the law has been complied with. In respect to seeds,
579 mixtures, or "screenings," which have been denied sale as provided in this subdivision, the owner or
580 custodian of such seeds, mixtures, or "screenings," shall have the right to judicial review of such order
581 in accordance with the provisions of the Administrative Process Act (§ 9-6.14:1 et seq.). The provisions
582 of this subdivision ~~shall may~~ not be construed as limiting the right of the enforcement officer
583 Commissioner ~~or his agent~~ to proceed as otherwise authorized by the provisions of this article;

584 (3) To establish and maintain or make provisions for seed-testing facilities, to employ qualified
585 persons, and to incur such expenses, including those incurred in the purchase of seed, as may be
586 necessary;

587 (4) ~~To make or provide for making purity and germination tests of seed for farmers and dealers on~~
588 ~~request subject to such quotas set by the Commissioner under rules and regulations governing such~~
589 ~~testing; and if he deems it advisable or necessary, to fix and collect charges for the tests made, paying~~
590 ~~into the treasury of Virginia all fees so collected into a special fund account, which funds are hereby~~
591 ~~appropriated to be used at the discretion of the Commissioner for such part or parts of the costs of the~~
592 ~~testing as he may deem advisable; To fix and collect fees for testing seeds for farmers and dealers that~~
593 ~~have requested the tests.~~

594 (5) To establish and maintain facilities for checking trueness to variety, and to employ experts in
595 order that seeds collected under the provisions of this article may be tested for trueness to kind and
596 variety, and to cooperate with federal and state agencies ~~relative with respect~~ to variety testing in the
597 laboratory, greenhouse and field;

598 (6) To publish the results of analyses, tests, examinations, studies, and investigations made as
599 authorized by this article, together with any other information he may deem advisable;

600 (7) To cooperate with the United States Department of Agriculture in seed law enforcement;

601 (8) To require at his discretion the registration of any variety or hybrid which is to be offered for
602 sale under the provisions of this article and rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, furnishing: (a)
603 the recognized variety name or recognized hybrid designation of such variety or hybrid, (b) a one
604 thousand viable seed sample of such seed, and (c) the history of its development and the name of the
605 person who developed such variety or hybrid and first introduced it for production and sale;

606 (9) To require the registration annually of all fields planted for the production of hybrid seed on or
607 before June 20 and to provide for inspection of such fields at his discretion.

608 (C) The Commissioner may appoint a ~~lawn and turf grass~~ seed advisory committee to advise with
609 him on provisions of this article as it ~~pertains to the registration and labeling of lawn and turf grass seed~~
610 ~~mixtures.~~

611 § 3.1-271. Authority of Board.

612 The Board is ~~authorized~~ may adopt regulations for the administration and enforcement of this article
613 including, but not limited to,;

(1) To prescribe and adopt ~~rules and~~ regulations governing (a) methods of sampling, (b) methods of inspection, (c) methods of testing (in the laboratory and in the field), ~~agricultural, vegetable, flower, tree and shrub, lawn and turf seeds, mixtures of such seeds and screenings,~~ (d) the establishment of standards, (e) the establishment of code designations, and (f) the establishment of tolerances to be followed in the administration of this article, ~~which in respect of agricultural, vegetable, flower, tree and shrub, lawn and turf seeds, mixtures of such seeds and screening.~~ Such regulations shall be in general accord with officially prescribed practice in interstate commerce, and such other rules and regulations as may be necessary to secure the enforcement of this article.

(2) To prescribe and establish, add to or subtract therefrom by rules and regulations prohibited and restricted noxious-weed seed lists.

(3) To prescribe and adopt rules and regulations for the labeling of flower seeds in respect to kind and variety or type and performance characteristics as required by § 3.1-264 of this article.

(4) To prepare and publish a list of the kinds of tree and shrub seeds which are subject to the tree and shrub seed purity and germination labeling requirements of § 3.1-264 (H) of this article.

(5) For the purpose of protecting the rights of hybrid breeders, the Board may provide by ~~rules and~~ regulations for the registration of the pedigree of any hybrid produced or sold in Virginia.

(6) prescribing and establishing, adding to or subtracting from by regulation, a list of those kinds of seed that a person shall sell, offer for sale, expose for sale within the Commonwealth, only by variety name.

(7) prescribing and establish special labeling requirements in addition to the requirements of § 3.1-264, for selling, offering to sell or distributing in the Commonwealth, seeds produced from transgenic plant material.

(8) prescribing and establishing, adding to or subtracting from by regulations, a list of those kinds having second generation hybrids recognized as having agronomic value that may be sold in the Commonwealth as a hybrid.

(9) prescribing and establishing, adding to or subtracting from by regulation, a list of those kinds specified as lawn and turf seeds.

[(10) to promulgate regulations increasing the amounts of charges and fees established in this chapter, excluding any assessments provided in § 3.1-273, if the Board finds that the charges and fees administering and enforcing the program established in this chapter as not sufficient to defray the costs of administering and enforcing the program established by this chapter. The charges and fees established by regulations of the Board shall approximate the direct and indirect costs of administering and enforcing the program established by this chapter.]

§ 3.1-271.1 Rules for Testing; Noxious-weed seed regulations; Commissioner to promulgate; Board to revise .

A. In order to accomplish the objective stated in § 3.1-271(1)(c), the Commissioner may adopt as a regulation the Rules for Testing Seeds adopted by the Association of Official Seed Analysts; and in order to accomplish the objective stated in § 3.1-271(1)(d), the Commissioner may amend the standards for seed; and in order to accomplish the objectives stated in § 3.1-271(2), the Commissioner may amend the prohibited noxious-weed seed list and amend the restricted noxious-weed seed list. Such regulation adopted by the Commissioner shall be effective upon filing with the Registrar of Regulations, who shall publish the regulations as a final regulation in the Virginia Register of Regulations.

The regulation shall contain a preamble stating that the Board will receive, consider, and respond to petitions by any interested person at any time with respect to reconsideration or revision of such regulation.

B. The Board, after giving notice in the Virginia Register of Regulations, may reconsider and revise the regulation adopted by the Commissioner. Such revised regulation shall be effective upon filing with the Registrar of Regulations, who shall publish the regulation as final regulation in the Virginia Register of Regulations. Neither the provisions of the Administrative Process Act (§ 9-6.14:1 et seq.) nor public participation guidelines adopted pursuant thereto shall apply to the adoption, reconsideration, or revision of any regulation adopted pursuant to this section.

§ 3.1-272. Seizure; disposition of seeds.

Any lot of agricultural, vegetable, flower, tree and shrub, lawn and turf seeds, mixtures of such seeds, or "screenings" being sold, exposed for sale, offered for sale, or held with intent to sell in this Commonwealth contrary to the provisions of this article shall be subject to seizure on complaint of the Commissioner to a court of competent jurisdiction in the county or city in which the seeds, mixtures of such seeds, or "screenings" are located. In the event the court finds the seeds, mixtures of such seeds, or "screenings" to be in violation of the provisions of this article and orders the condemnation thereof, such seeds, mixtures of such seeds, or "screenings" shall be denatured, processed, destroyed, relabeled, or otherwise disposed of in compliance with the laws of this Commonwealth; provided, that in no instance shall such disposition of the seeds, mixtures of such seeds, or "screenings," be ordered by the court

675 without first having given the claimant an opportunity to apply to the court for the release of the seeds,
 676 mixtures of such seeds, or "screenings," or permission to ~~process~~ condition or relabel to bring them into
 677 compliance with the provisions of this article.

678 § 3.1-273. Penalty; assessment for variance from guarantee.

679 A. Every violation of the provisions of this article shall be deemed a Class [~~4~~ 3] misdemeanor
 680 punishable by a fine not exceeding \$100 for the first offense, and not exceeding \$250 for each
 681 subsequent offense.

682 B. Any person who sells any seed subject to the provisions of this article is subject to an assessment
 683 for variance from guarantee whenever the Commissioner or his agent determines such seed: (i) is not
 684 within testing tolerance of the labeled analysis; (ii) contains restricted noxious weed seeds in excess of
 685 the amount claimed on the label; (iii) is not labeled; or (iv) is not labeled in accordance with the
 686 provisions of this article.

687 The Commissioner or his agent shall make an assessment for variance from guarantee upon the
 688 person whose name appears on the label. This Commissioner or his agent shall make an assessment for
 689 variance from guarantee equivalent to one percent of the amount of money the person from whom the
 690 sample was taken receives from the sale of the seed or \$100 (whichever is greater), upon each lot of
 691 seed or portion thereof the Commissioner or his agent sampled and found in violation, except as
 692 provided in § 3.1-273(c). The Commissioner or his agent shall make the assessment for variance from
 693 guarantee only on the lot or portion thereof that the person sold after the Commissioner or his agent
 694 sampled the lot or portion thereof.

695 C. The Commissioner or his agent shall make an assessment for variance from guarantee upon the
 696 guarantor of three times the amount the Commissioner or his agent calculates pursuant to § 3.1-273(b)
 697 whenever the Commissioner or his agent finds: (i) that the seed contains prohibited noxious weed seeds;
 698 (ii) that the seed contains restricted noxious weed seeds in a prohibited amount; (iii) the guarantor has
 699 mislabeled such seed as to variety including a component of a mixture; (iv) the person who sold such
 700 seed does not have the records required in § 3.1-266 available for inspection; or (v) the person who
 701 sold such seed does not have a laboratory analysis available for inspection to substantiate the labeling.

702 The guarantor on whom the assessment for variance from guarantee is made shall pay the
 703 assessment to the Commissioner within sixty days from the date the Commissioner or his agent issues
 704 the assessment to the guarantor. Any person who fails to pay the assessment within sixty days shall pay
 705 a late fee of ten percent of the assessment to the Commissioner in addition to the assessment. The
 706 Commissioner shall revoke the license of any person who fails to pay an assessment.

707 § 3.1-274. Notice of violations; review; warning.

708 It shall be the duty of the Commissioner or his agent to give notice of every violation of the
 709 provisions of this article with respect to agricultural, vegetable, flower, tree and shrub, lawn and turf
 710 seed, mixtures of such seeds or "screenings" to the person in whose ~~hands~~ possession such seed or
 711 "screenings" are found, ~~and to send~~. The Commissioner or his agent shall forward a copy of such notice
 712 to the person whose "analysis tag or label" is attached to the container of such seed or "screenings,"
 713 designating a time and place for hearing. If, after hearing, or without such hearing in the event the
 714 person fails or refuses to appear, the Commissioner is of the opinion that the evidence warrants
 715 prosecution, he may prosecute under § 3.1-273, or, if he believes the public interest will be adequately
 716 served thereby, he may direct to the alleged violator a suitable written notice or warning "screenings".

717 Nothing in this article shall be construed as requiring the Commissioner to report for prosecution, or
 718 for the institution of seizure proceedings, where the Commissioner considers the violation of the law to
 719 be minor. In such cases, the Commissioner or his agent may serve a suitable notice of warning in
 720 writing, when he believes that the public interest will be best served by so doing.

721 § 3.1-275. Guaranty of farm or garden seed; seller bound by written or printed statements.

722 ~~All seedsmen and others~~ Any person who ~~sell~~ sells farm or garden seeds to be used in producing
 723 crops for sale or ~~for family use~~ where such crops are used other than for sale shall be bound as
 724 ~~guarantors~~ guarantor that such seeds are true to kind and variety as represented at the-time of sale,
 725 whether such seeds were raised by the seller or by another; and if such seeds are sold by an agent the
 726 principal shall be bound by the representations of the agent ~~in~~ with regard to the kind and variety of the
 727 seed so sold.

728 If any paper or package containing seed sold in this Commonwealth for planting or seeding has
 729 printed or written thereon the kind, variety, or quality of the seeds therein the seller shall be bound in
 730 the courts of this Commonwealth by the same written or printed statement unless it be affirmatively
 731 proved by the seller that there was some other agreement between the parties in respect thereto.

732 § 3.1-275.1. Registration of lawn and turf seed mixture; change in labeling or specifications.

733 (A) Each and every lawn and turf seed mixture bearing a distinguishing name or trademark in
 734 prepackaged containers of ~~fifty~~ one hundred pounds or less ~~must~~ shall be registered annually by the
 735 person packing or distributing the mixture with the Commissioner or his ~~authorized~~ agent giving the
 736 following information:

(1) The *brand* name of the *lawn and turf seed* mixture.
 (2) A statement indicating the specifications of the *lawn and turf seed* mixture indicating within five per centum the percentage by weight of each kind of lawn and turf seed in the mixture.

(3) A complete copy of all labeling that is to appear on the container.

(4) An example of the analysis statement that is to appear on each container of a mixture.

(5) The name and address of the registrant and the name and address of the person whose name will appear on the label.

(B) All registrations of lawn and turf seed mixtures shall expire on the thirty-first day of December of the year for which they were registered, unless cancelled by the Commissioner for violation of any of the provisions of this article. Every registration shall expire on December 31 of the calendar year for which it was issued: Provided that every registration is valid through January 31 of the next ensuing calendar year or until issuance of the renewal registration, whichever event first occurs, if the holder thereof shall have filed a renewal application with the Commissioner or his agent on or before December 31 of the year for which the Commissioner or his agent issued the current registration.

(C) Within the discretion of the Commissioner or his authorized representative agent, a change in the labeling or specifications of a lawn or turf grass seed mixture subject to this section may be made within a current registration period without requiring new registration of the product provided the name of the *lawn and turf seed* mixture and the specifications for the primary ingredients of the mixture are not changed.

(D) Upon registration or renewal of registration, and prior to the distribution of any lawn and turf seed mixture in prepacked containers of fifty pounds or less, the registrant shall pay an annual registration fee of ten dollars for each named mixture registered for sale in this Commonwealth. The registrant shall pay to the Commissioner an annual registration fee of fifty dollars for each named lawn and turf seed mixture in prepacked containers of 100 pounds or less prior to its distribution in the Commonwealth.

(E) If it appears to the Commissioner or his authorized agent that the components of the lawn and turf seed mixture are such as to warrant the proposed labeling and other claims for it and if the labeling and other material required to be submitted appear to comply with the requirements of this article, he shall register the *lawn and turf seed* mixture.

(F) If it appears to the Commissioner or his authorized agent that the *lawn and turf seed* mixture does not warrant the proposed claims for it made in respect of it or if the mixture and its labeling required to be submitted do not comply with the provisions of this article, he shall notify the registrant of the manner in which the labeling or other material required to be submitted fail to comply with this article so as to afford the registrant an opportunity to make the necessary corrections. Should the registrant desire to be heard on any decision of the Commissioner or his duly authorized agent under this section, he may request the same in writing, thereafter the Commissioner or his duly authorized agent may grant such a hearing.

(G) If the Commissioner or his agent identifies any unregistered lawn and turf seed mixture in commerce in the Commonwealth during the registration year, the Commissioner or his agent shall notify the guarantor and grant a grace period of fifteen working days from issuance of notification for the guarantor to register the lawn and turf seed mixture and pay the registration fee without penalty. Any person required to register a lawn and turf seed mixture who fails to register within the fifteen working day grace period shall pay to the Commissioner a fifty dollar late fee in addition to the registration fee. The Commissioner or his agent may issue a stop sale, use, removal, or seizure order upon the lawn and turf seed mixture until its registration is complete.

§ 3.1-275.2. License required to market seed.

A. Any person whose name appears on the label of seed shall, before distributing, selling, or offering or exposing for sale, seed in the Commonwealth, obtain a license from the Commissioner or his agent.

B. Any person who is required to obtain a license under subsection (A) of this section shall apply for the license on a form furnished or approved by the Commissioner and shall pay a license fee of fifty dollars, which license fee shall accompany the license application.

C. Any person governed by subsection (A) of this section who has not obtained a license from the Commissioner or his agent prior to distributing, selling, or offering or exposing for sale, seed in the Commonwealth shall be given a grace period of fifteen working days from issuance of notification within which to obtain a license without penalty. Any person who fails to obtain a license by the fifteenth day of the grace period shall pay to the Commissioner a late fee of fifty dollars which shall be in addition to the license fee amount. The assessment of this late fee may not prohibit the Commissioner or his agent from taking other action as provided for in this article.

D. Every license shall expire on December 31 of the calendar year for which it is issued. Every such license is valid through January 31 of the next ensuing calendar year or until issuance of the renewal license, whichever event first occurs, if the holder thereof shall have filed a renewal application with the

798 Commissioner or his agent on or before December 31 of the year for which the Commissioner or his
799 agent issued the current license.

800 E. The Commissioner shall refuse to issue the license of any person not in compliance with the
801 provisions of this article, and shall revoke any license subsequently found not to be in compliance with
802 any provision of this article.

803 § 3.1-275.3. Inspection fee.

804 A. Any person who first introduces lawn and turf seed for sale in the Commonwealth shall pay
805 annually to the Commissioner by January 31 following the calendar year in which the sale occurred, an
806 inspection fee of three-tenths of one percent of the gross sales receipts for lawn and turf seed sold by
807 that person in the Commonwealth during that calendar year. The minimum inspection fee shall be
808 thirty-five dollars per person per calendar year; provided that for the period July 1, 1994, through
809 December 31, 1994, the minimum inspection fee shall be seventeen dollars and fifty cents per person.

810 B. The Commissioner or his agent shall notify any person governed by subsection (A) of this section
811 who has not paid to the Commissioner the required inspection fee by the date specified in subsection (A)
812 of this section and grant a grace period of fifteen working days from issuance of notification for the
813 person to pay the inspection fee without penalty. If the person fails to pay the inspection fee by the
814 fifteenth day of the grace period, the person shall pay a late fee of ten percent of the inspection fee due
815 or fifty dollars, whichever is greater. The late fee amount shall be in addition to the inspection fee
816 amount. The Commissioner or his agent may take other action as provided for in this article in addition
817 to the assessment of the late fee.

818 C. Any person required to pay an inspection fee under subsection A of this section shall use
819 generally accepted accounting principles that indicate accurately in his records the gross sales receipts
820 for seed sold by him in the Commonwealth. The Commissioner or his agent may inspect the sales
821 records of the person required to pay the inspection fee.

822 § 3.1-275.4. Sale of transgenetic seed.

823 In addition to the requirements of § 3.1-264, the guarantor shall label all seed produced from
824 transgenetic plant material according to the regulations promulgated by the Board pursuant to the
825 provisions of this article.

826 § 3.1-275.5. Sale of second generation as a hybrid.

827 The Board shall name in the regulations each kind of seed that is a second generation hybrid
828 recognized as having agronomic value which may be sold as a hybrid.

829 § 3.1-275.6. Duty of attorney for Commonwealth.

830 It shall be the duty of every attorney for the Commonwealth to whom the Commissioner shall report
831 any violation of this article to cause proceedings to be prosecuted without delay.

832 § 3.1-275.7. Disposition of fees and assessments.

833 All fees and assessments under this article, received by the Commissioner shall be paid into a
834 dedicated special fund, which is hereby created and shall be known as the "seed fund" in the State
835 Treasury to the credit of the Department, to be used in carrying out the purpose and provisions of this
836 article, to include inspecting, sampling, laboratory testing and other expenses; except that the
837 Commissioner shall deposit fifty percent of the inspection fee, to the credit of the Virginia Agricultural
838 Foundation Fund. The Virginia Agricultural Council shall administer all funds received by them from
839 this section for the exclusive funding of lawn and turf research.

840 § 9-6.14:4.1. Exemptions and exclusions.

841 A. Although required to comply with § 9-6.18 of the Virginia Register Act (§ 9-6.15 et seq.), the
842 following agencies are exempted from the provisions of this chapter, except to the extent that they are
843 specifically made subject to §§ 9-6.14:14.1, 9-6.14:21 and 9-6.14:22:

844 1. The General Assembly.

845 2. Courts, any agency of the Supreme Court, and any agency which by the Constitution is expressly
846 granted any of the powers of a court of record.

847 3. The Department of Game and Inland Fisheries in promulgating regulations regarding the
848 management of wildlife.

849 4. The Virginia Housing Development Authority.

850 5. Municipal corporations, counties, and all local, regional or multijurisdictional authorities created
851 under this Code, including those with federal authorities, except for those created under Chapter 27
852 (§ 15.1-1228 et seq.) of Title 15.1.

853 6. Educational institutions operated by the Commonwealth provided that, with respect to § 9-6.14:22,
854 such educational institutions shall be exempt from the publication requirements only with respect to
855 regulations which pertain to (i) their academic affairs; (ii) the selection, tenure, promotion and
856 disciplining of faculty and employees; (iii) the selection of students; and (iv) rules of conduct and
857 disciplining of students.

858 7. The Milk Commission in promulgating regulations regarding (i) producers' license and base, (ii)
859 classification and allocation of milk, computation of sales and shrinkage, and (iii) class prices for

producers' milk, time and method of payment, butterfat testing and differential.

8. The Virginia Resources Authority.

9. Agencies expressly exempted by any other provision of this Code.

10. The Virginia Voluntary Formulary Board in formulating recommendations regarding amendments to the Formulary pursuant to § 32.1-81.

11. The Council on Information Management.

12. The Department of General Services in promulgating standards for the inspection of buildings for asbestos pursuant to § 2.1-526.14.

13. [Repealed.]

14. [Repealed.]

15. The State Council of Higher Education for Virginia, in developing, issuing, and revising guidelines pursuant to § 23-9.6:2.

16. The Commissioner of the Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services in adopting regulations pursuant to subsection B of § 3.1-726.

17. The Commissioner of Agriculture and Consumer Services and the Board of Agriculture and Consumer Services in promulgating regulations pursuant to § 3.1-271.1 and subsection A of § 3.1-884.21:1.

18. The Board of Medicine when specifying therapeutic pharmaceutical agents for the treatment of certain conditions of the human eye and its adnexa by certified optometrists pursuant to § 54.1-2957.2.

19. The Board of Medicine, in consultation with the Board of Pharmacy, when promulgating amendments to the Physician's Assistant Formulary established pursuant to § 54.1-2952.1.

20. The Boards of Medicine and Nursing in promulgating amendments to the Nurse Practitioner Formulary established pursuant to § 54.1-2957.01.

21. The Virginia War Memorial Foundation.

22. The Virginia Medicaid Prior Authorization Advisory Committee in making recommendations to the Board of Medical Assistance Services regarding prior authorization for prescription drug coverage pursuant to Article 4 (§ 32.1-331.12 et seq.) of Chapter 10 of Title 32.1.

B. Agency action relating to the following subjects is exempted from the provisions of this chapter:

1. Money or damage claims against the Commonwealth or agencies thereof.

2. The award or denial of state contracts, as well as decisions regarding compliance therewith.

3. The location, design, specifications or construction of public buildings or other facilities.

4. Grants of state or federal funds or property.

5. The chartering of corporations.

6. Customary military, naval or police functions.

7. The selection, tenure, dismissal, direction or control of any officer or employee of an agency of the Commonwealth.

8. The conduct of elections or eligibility to vote.

9. Inmates of prisons or other such facilities or parolees therefrom.

10. The custody of persons in, or sought to be placed in, mental, penal or other state institutions as well as the treatment, supervision, or discharge of such persons.

11. Traffic signs, markers or control devices.

12. Instructions for application or renewal of a license, certificate, or registration required by law.

13. Content of, or rules for the conduct of, any examination required by law.

14. The administration of a pool or pools authorized by Article 7.1 (§ 2.1-234.9:1 et seq.) of Chapter 14 of Title 2.1.

15. Any rules for the conduct of specific lottery games, so long as such rules are not inconsistent with duly adopted regulations of the State Lottery Board, and provided that such regulations are published and posted.

16. Orders condemning or closing any shellfish, finfish, or crustacea growing area and the shellfish, finfish or crustacea located thereon pursuant to Article 2 (§ 28.2-803 et seq.) of Chapter 8, Title 28.2.

C. The following agency actions otherwise subject to this chapter and § 9-6.18 of the Virginia Register Act are excluded from the operation of Article 2 (§ 9-6.14:7.1 et seq.) of this chapter:

1. Agency orders or regulations fixing rates or prices.

2. Regulations which establish or prescribe agency organization, internal practice or procedures, including delegations of authority.

3. Regulations which consist only of changes in style or form or corrections of technical errors. Each promulgating agency shall review all references to sections of the Code of Virginia within their regulations each time a new supplement or replacement volume to the Code of Virginia is published to ensure the accuracy of each section or section subdivision identification listed.

4. Regulations which:

(a) Are necessary to conform to changes in Virginia statutory law or the appropriation act where no

921 agency discretion is involved;

922 (b) Are required by order of any state or federal court of competent jurisdiction where no agency
923 discretion is involved; or

924 (c) Are necessary to meet the requirements of federal law or regulations, provided such regulations
925 do not differ materially from those required by federal law or regulation, and the Registrar has so
926 determined in writing; notice of the proposed adoption of these regulations and the Registrar's above
927 determination shall be published in the Virginia Register not less than thirty days prior to the effective
928 date thereof.

929 5. Regulations which an agency finds are necessitated by an emergency situation. For the purposes of
930 this subdivision, "emergency situation" means (i) a situation involving an imminent threat to public
931 health or safety or (ii) a situation in which Virginia statutory law or the appropriation act or federal law
932 requires that a regulation shall be effective in 280 days or less from enactment of the law or the
933 appropriation act, and the regulation is not exempt under the provisions of subdivision C 4 of this
934 section. In such cases, the agency shall state in writing the nature of the emergency and of the necessity
935 for such action and may adopt such regulations with the prior approval of the Governor. Such
936 regulations shall be limited to no more than twelve months in duration. During the twelve-month period,
937 an agency may issue additional emergency regulations as needed addressing the subject matter of the
938 initial emergency regulation, but any such additional emergency regulations shall not be effective beyond
939 the twelve-month period from the effective date of the initial emergency regulation. If the agency wishes
940 to continue regulating the subject matter governed by the emergency regulation beyond the
941 twelve-month limitation, a regulation to replace the emergency regulation shall be promulgated in
942 accordance with Article 2 (§ 9-6.14:7.1 et seq.) of this chapter. The Notice of Intended Regulatory
943 Action to promulgate a replacement regulation shall be published within sixty days of the effective date
944 of the emergency regulation, and the proposed replacement regulation shall be published within 180
945 days after the effective date of the emergency regulation.

946 6. [Repealed.]

947 7. Preliminary program permit fees of the Department of Air Pollution Control assessed pursuant to
948 subsection C of § 10.1-1322.2.

949 Whenever regulations are adopted under this subsection C, the agency shall state as part thereof that
950 it will receive, consider and respond to petitions by any interested person at any time with respect to
951 reconsideration or revision. The effective date of regulations adopted under this subsection shall be in
952 accordance with the provisions of § 9-6.14:9.3, except in the case of emergency regulations, which shall
953 become effective as provided in § 9-6.14:9 A.

954 D. The following agency actions otherwise subject to this chapter are excluded from the operation of
955 Article 3 (§ 9-6.14:11 et seq.) of this chapter:

956 1. The assessment of taxes or penalties under the tax laws.

957 2. The award or denial of claims for workers' compensation.

958 3. The grant or denial of public assistance.

959 4. Temporary injunctive or summary orders authorized by law.

960 5. The determination of claims for unemployment compensation or special unemployment.

961 6. The award or denial of individual student loans by the Virginia Education Loan Authority.

962 7. The determination of applications for guaranty of individual student loans or the determination of
963 default claims by the State Education Assistance Authority.

964 E. The Marine Resources Commission, otherwise subject to this chapter and § 9-6.18 of the Virginia
965 Register Act, is excluded from the operation of subsection C of this section and of Article 2
966 (§ 9-6.14:7.1 et seq.) of this chapter; however, the authorization for any general permit or guidelines for
967 activity undertaken pursuant to Title 62.1 by the Marine Resources Commission shall be in accordance
968 with the provisions of this chapter.

969 F. A regulation for which an exemption is claimed under this section and which is placed before a
970 board or commission for consideration shall be provided at least two days in advance of the board or
971 commission meeting to members of the public that request a copy of that regulation. A copy of that
972 regulation shall be made available to the public attending such meeting.

973 G. The Joint Legislative Audit and Review Commission shall conduct a review periodically of
974 exemptions and exclusions authorized by this section. The purpose of this review shall be to assess
975 whether there are any exemptions or exclusions which should be discontinued or modified.

976 H. Minor changes to regulations being published in the Virginia Administrative Code under the
977 Virginia Register Act, Chapter 1.2 (§ 9-6.15 et seq.) of this title, made by the Virginia Code
978 Commission pursuant to § 9-77.10:1 shall be exempt from the provisions of this chapter.